
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS 

 
 
RYAN M. SMITH, Individually and on Behalf 
of All Others Similarly Situated, 
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v. 
 
THE FIRST MARBLEHEAD CORP., DANIEL 
MEYERS, and KENNETH KLIPPER, 
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Case No.: 
 
 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE 
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS 
 
 
 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 
 

Plaintiff Ryan M. Smith (“Plaintiff”), by and through his attorneys, alleges the following 

upon information and belief, except as to those allegations concerning Plaintiff, which are 

alleged upon personal knowledge. Plaintiff’s information and belief is based upon, among other 

things, his counsel's investigation, which includes without limitation: (a) review and analysis of 

regulatory filings made by The First Marblehead Corp. (“First Marblehead” or the “Company”), 

with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”); (b) review and analysis of 

press releases and media reports issued by and disseminated by First Marblehead; and (c) review 

of other publicly available information concerning First Marblehead. 

NATURE OF THE ACTION AND OVERVIEW  

1. This is a class action on behalf of purchasers of First Marblehead securities 

between November 4, 2010 through August 15, 2013, inclusive (the “Class Period”), seeking to 

pursue remedies under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”). 

2. First Marblehead is a specialty finance company focused on education loan 

programs for K-12, undergraduate and graduate students in the United States, as well as tuition 

planning, tuition billing, refund management and payment technology services. The Company 
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partners with lenders to design and administer education loan programs, which are typically 

school-certified and designed to be marketed through educational institutions or to prospective 

student borrowers and their families directly, and to generate portfolios intended to be held by 

the originating lender or financed in the capital markets. First Marblehead also offers a number 

of ancillary services in support of its clients, including loan origination, retail banking, portfolio 

management and securitization services. 

3. On March 31, 2009, the Company completed the sale of the trust certificate of NC 

Residuals Owners Trust (the “Trust Certificate”). The sale generated a cash refund of income 

taxes previously paid of $189.3 million.  

4. In reporting to investors the tax implications of the sale of the Trust Certificate, 

the Company disclosed the following, in relevant part: 

Effective March 31, 2009, we completed the sale of the Trust Certificate, 
representing our ownership interest in NC Residuals Owners Trust, in a 
transaction intended to improve our financial condition and liquidity. The sale of 
the Trust Certificate is expected to generate a cash refund for income taxes 
previously paid, as we have been required to pay income taxes on the expected 
residual cash flows from the NCSLT Trusts in excess of what we have actually 
received. In addition, we estimate that we would have been required to pay 
approximately $430 million in additional taxes over the remaining life of these 
residuals, with approximately $370 million to be paid prior to the residuals 
generating sufficient annual cash flows to offset the tax payments. As a result of 
the transaction, we expect to eliminate any tax obligations from these residuals.  
 
5. The Company, however, failed to inform investors that its position regarding the 

tax implications of the sale of the Trust Certificate, and other similar investment trust interests, 

was extremely tenuous and exposed the Company to a likely very large tax liability.  

Specifically, the Company failed to disclose that the relevant tax guidance did not allow for the 

refunds and loss accruals claimed by the Company as a result of its sales of the Trust Certificate, 

and that the tax refund claimed by the Company did not comport with relevant legal 
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requirements.    

6. In April 2010, the Internal Revenue Service, (“IRS”), commenced an audit of the 

Company’s tax returns for fiscal 2007 through fiscal 2010, including a review of the tax 

treatment of the sale of the Trust Certificate, as well as the $45.1 million income tax refund that 

the Company received in October 2010.  

7. While the Company disclosed the IRS audit in its quarterly report for the period 

ended March 31, 2010, filed with the SEC, it failed to apprise investors the outsize potential 

liability to First Marblehead if the IRS deemed the tax treatment of its Trust Certificate sales 

inappropriate.   

8. Finally, on August 15, 2013 in its press release announcing quarterly results for 

the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, the Company disclosed that the tax liability related to its IRS 

audit would amount to $300 million, more than the Company’s reported cash on hand, and 

nearly double its market capitalization. The Company stated, in relevant part: 

As previously disclosed, our federal income tax returns have been under audit by 
the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") in connection with the sale of the trust 
certificate of the NC Residual Owners Trust ("Trust Residuals"). As part of that 
audit process, the Company expects to receive a Notice of Proposed Adjustment 
("NOPA"). The NOPA, when issued, is an initial IRS position and not a final 
determination, and as a result, does not require any tax payment at this time.  
 
The Company expects that the NOPA would seek to disallow the loss that 
generated the tax refunds previously received by the Company as well as require 
the Company to include in its tax returns any taxable income of the Trust 
Residuals from the March 31, 2009 sale date through June 30, 2011. The 
disallowance of the loss, coupled with the additional taxable income after the sale 
date, creates a proposed adjustment which we estimate to be approximately $300 
million plus interest. 
 
9. On this news, the Company's shares declined $0.57 per share, or over 36%, to 

close on August 16, 2013, at $1.00 per share, on unusually heavy trading volume. 
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10. Throughout the Class Period, Defendants made false and/or misleading 

statements, as well as failed to disclose material adverse facts about the Company's business, 

operations, and financial performance. Specifically, Defendants made false and/or misleading 

statements and/or failed to disclose that: (1) the Company’s tax treatment for its sale of the Trust 

Certificate and similarly situated securities was inappropriate; (2) such treatment exposed the 

Company to significant liability, threatening the viability of the Company;  (3) the Company 

lacked adequate internal controls over financial reporting; and (4) as a result of the foregoing, the 

Company's financial statements were materially false and misleading at all relevant times. 

11. As a result of Defendants' wrongful acts and omissions, and the precipitous 

decline in the market value of the Company's securities, Plaintiff and other Class members have 

suffered significant losses and damages. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE  

12. The claims asserted herein arise under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange 

Act (15 U.S.C.§§78j(b) and 78t(a)) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by the SEC (17 

C.F.R. § 240.10b-5). 

13. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §1331 and Section 27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. §7Saa). 

14. Venue is proper in this Judicial District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(b) and 

Section 27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. §78aa(c)). Substantial acts in furtherance of the 

alleged fraud or the effects of the fraud have occurred in this Judicial District. Many of the acts 

charged herein, including the preparation and dissemination of materially false and/or misleading 

information, occurred in substantial part in this Judicial District.  
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15. In connection with the acts, transactions, and conduct alleged herein, Defendants 

directly and indirectly used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including the 

United States mail, interstate telephone communications, and the facilities of a national securities 

exchange. 

PARTIES  

16. Plaintiff, as set forth in the accompanying certification, incorporated by reference 

herein, purchased First Marblehead common stock during the Class Period, and suffered 

damages upon the announcement of the alleged corrective disclosure.   

17. Defendant First Marblehead is a Delaware corporation with its principal executive 

offices situated at 800 Boylston Street, 34th Floor, Boston, Massachusetts, 02199. 

18. Defendant Daniel Meyers (“Meyers”) was, at all relevant times, Chairman, Chief 

Executive Officer (“CEO”) and President of the Company. 

19. Defendant Kenneth Klipper (“Klipper”) was, at all relevant times, Managing 

Director and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) of the Company. 

20. Defendants Meyers and Klipper are collectively referred to hereinafter as the 

“Individual Defendants.” The Individual Defendants, because of their positions with the 

Company, possessed the power and authority to control the contents of First Marblehead's 

reports to the SEC, press releases and presentations to securities analysts, money and portfolio 

managers and institutional investors, i.e., the market. Each defendant was provided with copies 

of the Company's reports and press releases alleged herein to be misleading prior to, or shortly 

after, their issuance and had the ability and opportunity to prevent their issuance or cause them to 

be corrected. Because of their positions and access to material non-public information available 

to them, each of these defendants knew that the adverse facts specified herein had not been 

disclosed to, and were being concealed from, the public, and that the positive representations 
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which were being made were then materially false and/or misleading. The Individual Defendants 

are liable for the false statements pleaded herein, as those statements were each “group-

published” information, the result of the collective actions of the Individual Defendants. 

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS  

Background  

21. First Marblehead is a specialty finance company focused on education loan 

programs for K-12, undergraduate and graduate students in the United States, as well as tuition 

planning, tuition billing, refund management and payment technology services. The Company 

partners with lenders to design and administer education loan programs, which are typically 

school-certified and designed to be marketed through educational institutions or to prospective 

student borrowers and their families directly and designed to generate portfolios intended to be 

held by the originating lender or financed in the capital markets. First Marblehead also offers a 

number of ancillary services in support of our clients, including loan origination, retail banking, 

portfolio management and securitization services. 

Materially False and Misleading 
Statements Issued During the Class Period  

22. On April 6, 2009, the Company announced the sale of its ownership interest in the 

Trust Certificate. Regarding the tax implications of the transaction, the Company stated in 

relevant part: 

The sale is expected to generate a cash refund for taxes previously paid, as the 
Company has been required to pay taxes on the expected residual cash flows from 
the NCSLT Trusts before it actually receives those cash flows. Prior to this 
transaction, the company has paid in excess of $195 million on taxable income 
associated with their interests in the NCSLT residuals over the past 7 years. The 
Company estimates that it would be required to pay approximately $430 million 
in additional taxes over the remaining life of the residuals, with approximately 
$370 million to be paid prior to the residuals generating sufficient annual cash 
flows to offset the tax payments. As a result of the transaction, the Company 
expects to eliminate any tax obligations from these residuals in their entirety.  
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The refund is expected to be received by the Company in 2009 and 2010 
 
     *** 
Daniel Meyers, First Marblehead's Chief Executive Officer and President, said, 
"Management is pleased to have completed this transaction, which will 
significantly enhance our unrestricted cash. With respect to the residual interests, 
the Company has paid income taxes on these residual interests without receiving 
any cash from these trusts. By completing this transaction, we expect not only to 
stop the cash burn from these tax payments, but also to recapture a significant 
portion of the taxes that the Company has paid to date on these residuals. In 
addition, we will assist the Purchaser with a host of portfolio management and 
data services throughout the life of the NCSLT Trusts, for which we expect to 
receive contractual fees. This ensures that First Marblehead's interests continue to 
be aligned with those of the bondholders of these trusts."  

 

23. On April 28, 2009, the Company issued a press release reporting results from the 

quarter ended March 31, 2009. The Company reported a net loss of $140.7 million, or $1.42 per 

share, and total revenues of ($130.6) million resulting from the sale of the Trust Certificate. The 

Company also reported $169.9 million in income taxes receivable, and no income taxes payable, 

and described the tax implications of the Trust Certificate sale as following: 

The company ended the quarter with $184.8 million in cash, cash equivalents and 
investments. The sale of NC Residuals Owners Trust is expected to generate a 
cash refund for taxes previously paid, and the company recorded a net income tax 
receivable of approximately $170.0 million at March 31, 2009. Net operating cash 
usage for the quarter ended March 31, 2009 was approximately $13.5 million 
compared to approximately $15.0 million for the prior quarter.  
 
24. On May 8, 2009, First Marblehead filed its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q with 

the SEC for the period ended March 31, 2009. The Company's Form 10-Q was signed by 

Defendants Meyers and Klipper, and reaffirmed the Company's financial results announced on 

April 28, 2009. The Company's Form 10-Q included Sarbanes-Oxley required certifications (the, 

“Sarbanes-Oxley Certifications”), signed by Defendants Meyers and Klipper, who certified the 

following: 
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1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 
30, 2012 for First Marblehead Corp; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue 
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which 
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial 
information included in this report fairly present in all material respects 
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for 
establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal 
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such 
disclosure controls to be designed under our supervision, to ensure 
that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within 
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is 
being prepared; 

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused 
such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation. of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles; 

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls 
and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of 
the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and 

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal 
control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, 
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal 
control over financial reporting; and. 

 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on 
our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to 
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of 
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directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design 
or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to 
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or 
other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
internal control over financial reporting. 

25. In its quarterly report the Company also reported the following regarding the tax 

implications of the Trust certificate sale: 

As a result of the sale of the Trust Certificate, the Company reversed $117,719 of 
deferred tax assets recorded as of December 31, 2008 that pertain to temporary 
differences associated with its residual interests. The sale of the Trust Certificate 
is expected to change the Company's estimated taxable income for the year, to a 
taxable loss, which may allow the Company to carry back the net operating losses 
generated by the sale to previous years for Federal income tax purposes. 
Accordingly, the Company recorded a $177,366 income tax receivable as of 
March 31, 2009. 
 
During the second quarter of fiscal 2009, the deferred tax asset continued to grow 
due primarily to the taxable income generated by the Company's service 
receivables. The Company determined that a valuation allowance was necessary 
for certain deferred tax assets associated with its service receivables. As such, a 
valuation allowance totaling $6,433 was recorded during the second quarter of 
fiscal 2009. The previously recorded valuation allowance was reversed during the 
third quarter of fiscal 2009 due to the sale of the Trust Certificate. The Company 
has determined that a valuation allowance is not necessary for the remaining 
deferred tax assets, as it is more likely than not that these assets will be realized 
through future reversals of existing temporary differences, and through future 
taxable income. The Company will continue to review the recognition of deferred 
tax assets on a regular basis. 
 
Included in the income tax receivable balance at March 31, 2009, were $21,627 of 
unrecognized tax benefits of which $14,058, if recognized, would favorably affect 
the effective income tax rate. The Company recognizes interest accrued related to 
unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. The Company recognizes 
penalties, if any, in income tax expense. During the first nine months of fiscal 
2009, the Company accrued interest of approximately $341 and had 
approximately $2,197 accrued for interest and no amount accrued for the payment 
of penalties at March 31, 2009. 
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     *** 
 
Sale of the Trust Certificate.     On April 6, 2009, we announced the sale of the 
Trust Certificate, representing our ownership interest in NC Residuals Owners 
Trust, formerly known as GATE Holdings, Inc., to affiliates of Vanquish Capital 
Management LLC. We believe the sale of the Trust Certificate has significantly 
improved our near-term financial condition and liquidity. NC Residuals Owners 
Trust owned, directly and indirectly, certain certificates, which we refer to herein 
as the Trust Certificate, of beneficial ownership interests, which we refer to herein 
as Residuals, of the NCSLT Trusts. The sale is expected to generate a cash refund 
for taxes previously paid, as we have been required to pay taxes on the expected 
residual cash flows from the NCSLT Trusts before we actually receive those cash 
flows. Over the past seven years, we have paid more than $195 million on taxable 
income associated with the Residuals. In addition, we estimate that we would 
have been required to pay approximately $430 million in additional taxes over the 
remaining life of the Residuals, with approximately $370 million to be paid prior 
to the Residuals generating sufficient annual cash flows to offset the tax 
payments. As a result of the transaction, we expect to eliminate any tax 
obligations from the Residuals in their entirety. The refund is expected to be 
received during fiscal 2010. 
 
26. On August 17, 2009, the Company issued a press release reporting quarterly and 

annual results from the period ended June 30, 2009. The Company reported a net loss of $36.1 

million, or $0.36 per share, on revenues of $11.6 million for the fourth quarter ended June 30, 

2009; and, a net loss of $363 million or $3.66 per share, on revenues of ($290 million). The 

Company also reported income taxes receivable of $166.4 million, and no income taxes payable. 

Therein, the Company, in relevant part, stated: 

The company ended the quarter with $167.2 million in cash, cash equivalents and 
investments. The sale of NC Residuals Owners Trust and the net operating losses 
are expected to generate a cash refund for taxes previously paid, and the company 
recorded an income tax receivable of approximately $166.4 million at June 30, 
2009. 
 
27. On September 3, 2009, First Marblehead filed its Annual Report on Form 10-K 

with the SEC for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009. The Company's Form 10-K was signed by 

Defendants Meyers and Klipper, among others, and reaffirmed the Company's previously 

announced financial results. The Company's Form 10-K included Sarbanes-Oxley required 
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certifications, signed by Defendants Meyers and Klipper, substantially similar to the 

certifications described in ¶ 24, supra. In commenting on its potential income tax liabilities the 

Company stated in relevant part: 

In addition, as of March 31, 2009, we sold the trust certificate, or Trust 
Certificate, of NC Residuals Owners Trust, which held our residual interests in 
The National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts, which we refer to in this annual 
report as the NCSLT Trusts. The NCSLT Trusts held substantially all of the 
TERI-guaranteed private education loans that we had previously securitized. The 
sale of the Trust Certificate is expected to generate a refund for income taxes 
previously paid and eliminate certain of our future tax liabilities, which would 
have had a material negative effect on our financial condition and liquidity. As a 
result of this sale, we are no longer entitled to receive residual cash flows from the 
NCSLT Trusts, and our financial results for fiscal 2009 included a write-down of 
our residuals receivables of $134.5 million as a result of the transaction. We 
continue to have rights to additional structural advisory fees and will earn asset 
servicing fees from the NCSLT Trusts, as well as additional structural advisory 
fees and residuals from certain trusts other than the NCSLT Trusts. 
     *** 
Effective March 31, 2009, we completed the sale of the Trust Certificate, 
representing our ownership interest in NC Residuals Owners Trust, in a 
transaction intended to improve our financial condition and liquidity. The sale of 
the Trust Certificate is expected to generate a cash refund for income taxes 
previously paid, as we have been required to pay income taxes on the expected 
residual cash flows from the NCSLT Trusts in excess of what we have actually 
received. In addition, we estimate that we would have been required to pay 
approximately $430 million in additional taxes over the remaining life of these 
residuals, with approximately $370 million to be paid prior to the residuals 
generating sufficient annual cash flows to offset the tax payments. As a result of 
the transaction, we expect to eliminate any tax obligations from these residuals. 
The U.S. federal and state income tax consequences are complex and uncertain. 
The Internal Revenue Service or a state taxing authority could challenge our tax 
positions in connection with the transactions, even after we receive any tax 
refunds. If such a challenge were successful, in whole or in part, we may not 
receive or keep a refund for taxes previously paid, or we may not eliminate our 
tax obligations relating to the residuals. In either case, our near-term financial 
condition and liquidity would be materially adversely affected. In addition, any 
investigation, audit or suit relating to the sale, including any such proceeding 
brought by the Internal Revenue Service, could result in substantial costs. 
      

*** 
We remain focused on preserving capital and maximizing liquidity in these 
challenging market conditions. During fiscal 2009, we received $132.7 million in 
gross proceeds from an equity financing, and we greatly reduced our annual cash 
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expenditure requirements through reductions in headcount, consolidation of office 
space and other cost saving initiatives that began in fiscal 2008. In addition, as of 
March 31, 2009, we sold the Trust Certificate, which represented our residual 
interests in substantially all of the TERI-guaranteed private education loans that 
we had previously securitized. As a result of this transaction, we expect to 
generate a refund for income taxes previously paid and eliminate certain of our 
future tax liabilities, which would have had a material negative effect on our 
financial condition and liquidity. Also, we are no longer entitled to receive 
residual cash flows from the NCSLT Trusts, which represented substantially all of 
our residuals receivables; however, we continue to have rights to additional 
structural advisory fees and will earn asset servicing fees from the NCSLT Trusts, 
as well as additional structural advisory fees and residuals from certain trusts 
other than the NCSLT Trusts. 
      

*** 
 

We sold the Trust Certificate effective March 31, 2009. Under the terms of the 
sale, we are no longer entitled to receive any amounts related to the residual 
interests in these trusts. At the time of the sale, we reduced our residuals 
receivables by $134.5 million, in addition to net write-downs of $148.8 million 
recorded prior to the sale for changes in assumptions regarding discount rates, 
prepayment rates, net default rates and auction rate notes spread prior to the sale 
and fourth quarter adjustments to residuals of trusts not part of the sale. See "—
Service Revenues Receivables Assumptions" below for a discussion of each 
assumption. We continue to have the right to receive a portion of the residual 
interests, if any, generated by various securitization trusts other than the NCSLT 
Trusts. This right is junior in priority to the rights of the holders of the debt sold in 
the securitizations and additional structural advisory fees. 

   
 

28. On October 26, 2009, the Company issued a press release reporting results from 

the quarter ended September 30, 2009. The Company reported a net loss of $94.1 million, or 

$0.95 per share, income taxes receivable of $159 million. Therein, the Company, in relevant part, 

stated: 

The company ended the quarter with $176.9 million in cash, cash equivalents and 
investments. On October 1, 2009, the company received $176.6 million from the 
Internal Revenue Service as a refund for federal taxes previously paid. On 
October 16, 2009 the company received proceeds of $121.5 million upon the sale 
of a portfolio of private student loans held by its bank subsidiary. Following 
receipt of the tax refund and portfolio sale proceeds, the company had 
approximately $475 million of cash, cash equivalents and investments on a 
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consolidated basis. 
 
29. On November 6, 2009, First Marblehead filed its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 

with the SEC for the period ended September 30, 2009. The Company's Form 10-Q was signed 

by Defendants Meyers and Klipper, and reaffirmed the Company's financial results announced 

on November 6, 2009. The Company's Form 10-Q included the Sarbanes-Oxley Certifications, 

signed by Defendants Meyers and Klipper, substantially similar to the certifications described in 

¶ 24, supra. In commenting on its potential income tax liabilities the Company stated in relevant 

part: 

Prior to fiscal 2009, we structured and facilitated the securitization of private education 
loans generated by our clients through a series of bankruptcy remote, special purpose 
statutory trusts. Through the securitization process, the trusts obtained loans from the 
originating lenders or their assignees, which relinquished to the trust their ownership 
interest in the loans. The debt instruments issued by the trusts to finance the purchase of 
these private education loans are obligations of the trusts, not obligations of us or the 
originating lenders or their assignees. For our past securitization services, we are entitled 
to receive additional structural advisory fees from the trusts over time. Effective March 
31, 2009, we sold the trust certificate (Trust Certificate) of our subsidiary NC Residuals 
Owners Trust, formerly known as GATE Holdings, Inc., a statutory trust that owned 
certain certificates of beneficial ownership interests, also known as residuals, of the 
NCSLT Trusts. The NCSLT Trusts held substantially all of the private education loans 
previously securitized by us and guaranteed by The Education Resources Institute, Inc. 
(TERI), a not-for-profit organization. As a result of the sale, we are no longer entitled to 
receive residual cash flows from the NCSLT Trusts. However, we continue to be entitled 
to receive residual cash flows from other trusts, and we are entitled to receive asset 
servicing fees for our services that support the purchasers' ownership of the Trust 
Certificate. In addition, during fiscal 2009, we began to receive service fees for stand-
alone services for loan origination and default prevention and collections services. 
During fiscal 2009, we implemented a plan to adjust our business model and address 
some of the uncertainties facing us. We made major changes in senior management, 
significantly reduced our operating expenses and sold the Trust Certificate. The sale of 
the Trust Certificate, coupled with operating losses for fiscal 2009, generated a refund on 
October 1, 2009 from the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) for income taxes previously 
paid of $176,636 and is expected to eliminate certain future tax liabilities, which would 
have had a material negative effect on our financial condition and liquidity. 
 
As a result of the sale of the Trust Certificate effective March 31, 2009, as well as our 
operating losses for fiscal 2009, we recorded an income tax receivable for federal income 
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taxes paid on prior taxable income. On October 1, 2009, we received $176,6361

 

 from the 
IRS related to our income tax receivable. 

*** 
 
30. On January 29, 2010, the Company issued a press release reporting results from 

the quarter ended December 31, 2009. The Company reported a net loss of $11.7 million or 

$0.12 per share on revenues of $10.1 million, and income taxes receivable of $366,000. 

31. On February 9, 2010, First Marblehead filed its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 

with the SEC for the period ended December 31, 2009. The Company's Form 10-Q was signed 

by Defendants Meyers and Klipper, and reaffirmed the Company's financial results announced 

on January 29, 2010. The Company's Form 10-Q included the Sarbanes-Oxley Certifications, 

signed by Defendants Meyers and Klipper, substantially similar to the certifications described in 

¶ 24., supra. In commenting on its potential income tax liabilities the Company stated in relevant 

part: 

Effective March 31, 2009, we sold the trust certificate (Trust Certificate) of our 
subsidiary NC Residuals Owners Trust, formerly known as GATE Holdings, Inc., 
a statutory trust that owned certain certificates of beneficial ownership interests of 
the NCSLT Trusts. The NCSLT Trusts held substantially all of the private 
education loans previously securitized by us and guaranteed by The Education 
Resources Institute, Inc. (TERI), a not-for-profit organization. As a result of the 
sale, we are no longer entitled to receive residual cash flows, also known as 
residuals, from the NCSLT Trusts. However, we continue to be entitled to receive 
residuals from other trusts, and we are entitled to receive asset servicing fees for 
our services that support the purchasers' ownership of the Trust Certificate. In 
addition, during fiscal 2009, we began to receive service fees for stand-alone 
services for loan origination, default prevention and collections services. 

 
*** 

 
During fiscal 2009, we implemented a plan to adjust our business model and 
address some of the uncertainties facing us. We made major changes in senior 
management, significantly reduced our operating expenses and sold the Trust 

                                                 
1 In the Company’s financial discussions in its SEC filings quoted herein, the Company uses numbers in 
the millions, meaning that it omits the last three zeros from each referenced number.  Hence, for example, 
the reference here to “$176,636” means $176,636,000. 
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Certificate. The sale of the Trust Certificate, coupled with operating losses for 
fiscal 2009, generated a refund in October 2009 from the Internal Revenue 
Service for income taxes previously paid of $176,636 and is expected to eliminate 
certain future tax liabilities . . . 

*** 
 

As a result of the sale of the Trust Certificate effective March 31, 2009, as well as 
our operating losses for fiscal 2009, we recorded an income tax receivable for 
federal income taxes paid on prior taxable income. In the first six months of fiscal 
2010, we received a total of $189,310 in federal and state income tax refunds 
related to our income tax receivables. 

 
 
32. On April 23, 2010 the Company issued a press release reporting results from the 

quarter ended March 31, 2010. The Company reported a net loss of $29.4 million, or $0.30 per 

share, on revenues of ($16.8) million, and income taxes receivable of $3.8 million.  

33. On May10, 2010, First Marblehead filed its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q with 

the SEC for the period ended March 31, 2010. The Company's Form 10-Q was signed by 

Defendants Meyers and Klipper, and reaffirmed the Company's previously announced financial 

results. The Company's Form 10-Q included the Sarbanes-Oxley Certifications, signed by 

Defendants Meyers and Klipper, substantially similar to the certifications described in ¶ 24, 

supra. In commenting on its potential income tax liabilities the Company stated in relevant part: 

In the first nine months of fiscal 2010, we received $189.3 million in federal and 
state tax refunds on income taxes previously paid by us on prior taxable income. 
The refunds resulted from our losses from operations and the sale of the Trust 
Certificate. During the third quarter of fiscal 2010, the Internal Revenue Service, 
or IRS, began an audit of our federal tax returns for fiscal 2007, 2008 and 2009. 
The IRS or a state taxing authority could challenge our tax positions in connection 
with the transactions, notwithstanding our receipt of any tax refund. 
 
34. On August 16, 2010, the Company issued a press release reporting quarterly and 

annual results from the period ended June 30, 2010. The Company reported a net loss of $10.4 

million or $0.10 per share for the quarter, and a net loss of $145.5 million or $1.46 per share for 

the fiscal year. The Company also reported income taxes receivable of $17.5 million. 
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35. On September 2, 2010, First Marblehead filed its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 

with the SEC for the period ended June 30, 2010. The Company's Form 10-Q was signed by 

Defendants Meyers and Klipper, and reaffirmed the Company's previously announced financial 

results. The Company's Form 10-Q included the Sarbanes-Oxley Certifications, signed by 

Defendants Meyers and Klipper, substantially similar to the certifications described in ¶ 24, 

supra. In commenting on its potential income tax liabilities the Company stated in relevant part: 

We are subject to U.S. federal income tax, as well as income tax in multiple U.S. 
state and local jurisdictions. During April 2010, the Internal Revenue Service 
commenced an audit of our tax returns for fiscal years 2007, 2008 and 2009. We 
cannot predict the timing or outcome of the audit at this time. Our state income 
tax returns for the year ended June 30, 2004, and state and federal income tax 
returns for the years ended June 30, 2005 and 2006, remain subject to 
examination. 
 
36. On November 4, 2010 the Company issued a press release reporting results from 

the quarter ended September 30, 2010. The Company reported a net loss of $10.6 million, or 

$0.11 per share.  

37. On November 9, 2010, First Marblehead filed its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 

with the SEC for the period ended September 30, 2010. The Company's Form 10-Q was signed 

by Defendants Meyers and Klipper, and reaffirmed the Company's financial results announced 

on November 4, 2010. The Company's Form 10-Q included the Sarbanes-Oxley Certifications, 

signed by Defendants Meyers and Klipper, substantially similar to the certifications described in 

¶ 24, supra. Regarding IRS audit, the Company stated in relevant part: 

During April 2010, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) commenced an audit of 
our tax returns for fiscal years 2007, 2008 and 2009. In connection with the 
October 1, 2010 tax refund, the IRS has expanded its audit to include fiscal year 
2010. We cannot predict the timing or outcome of the audit at this time. As of the 
date of this quarterly report, no adjustments had been proposed by the IRS. 
 
38. On February 1, 2011, the Company issued a press release reporting results from 
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the quarter ended December 31, 2011. The Company reported a net loss of $1.5 million, or $0.01 

per share, and income taxes payable of $25.8 million.  

39. On February 9, 2011, First Marblehead filed its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 

with the SEC for the quarter ended December 31, 2011. The Company's Form 10-Q was signed 

by Defendants Meyers and Klipper, and reaffirmed the Company's previously announced 

financial results. The Company's Form 10-Q included the Sarbanes-Oxley Certifications, signed 

by Defendants Meyers and Klipper, substantially similar to the certifications described in ¶24, 

supra. Regarding IRS audit, the Company stated in relevant part: 

During April 2010, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) commenced an audit of 
our tax returns for fiscal years 2007, 2008 and 2009. In connection with the 
October 1, 2010 tax refund, the IRS has expanded its audit to include fiscal year 
2010. We cannot predict the timing or outcome of the audit at this time. As of the 
date of this quarterly report, no adjustments had been proposed by the IRS. 
 
40. On May 16, 2011, the Company issued a press release reporting results from the 

quarter ended March 31, 2011. The Company reported a net loss of $39.3 million, or $0.39 per 

share, and income taxes payable of $40.3 million. 

41. Also, on May 16, 2011, First Marblehead filed its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 

with the SEC for the quarter ended March 31, 2011. The Company's Form 10-Q was signed by 

Defendants Meyers and Klipper, and reaffirmed the Company's previously announced financial 

results. The Company's Form 10-Q included Sarbanes-Oxley Certifications, signed by 

Defendants Meyers and Klipper, substantially similar to the certifications described in ¶24, 

supra. Regarding IRS audit, the Company stated in relevant part: 

As a result of the sale of the Trust Certificate, which was effective March 31, 
2009, as well as our operating losses incurred in fiscal 2009, we recorded an 
income tax receivable for federal income taxes paid on taxable income in prior 
taxable years. In fiscal 2010, we received a total of $189.3 million in federal and 
state income tax refunds related to our income tax receivables. In April 2010, the 
Internal Revenue Service (IRS) commenced an audit of our tax returns for taxable 
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years 2007, 2008 and 2009. Such audits are consistent with the practice of the 
Joint Committee of Taxation, which requires the IRS to audit a taxpayer who 
claims and receives a tax refund of a specified magnitude. In connection with this 
audit, the IRS is reviewing, among other things, the tax treatment of the sale of 
the Trust Certificate, including the related income tax refund previously received 
by us. The IRS has also expanded its audit to include our fiscal 2010 tax return in 
light of the $45.1 million tax refund that we received in October 2010. We cannot 
predict the timing or outcome of the IRS audit. As of March 31, 2011, the IRS has 
not proposed any adjustments in connection with its audit.. 
 
42. On August 30, 2011, the Company issued a press release reporting results from 

the quarter and full year ended June 30, 2011. The Company reported a quarter net loss of $83.8 

million, or $0.83 per share, and an annual net loss of $221.6 million, or $2.20 per share, and 

income taxes payable of $39.9 million.  

43. On September 8, 2011, First Marblehead filed its Annual Report on Form 10-K 

with the SEC for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011. The Company's Form 10-K was signed by 

Defendants Meyers and Klipper, among others, and reaffirmed the Company's previously 

announced financial results. The Company's Form 10-K included Sarbanes-Oxley required 

certifications, signed by Defendants Meyers and Klipper, substantially similar to the 

certifications described in ¶24, supra. In commenting on its potential income tax liabilities the 

Company stated in relevant part: 

In determining a provision for income taxes, we base our estimated annual 
effective tax rate on expected annual income, statutory tax rates, our ability to 
utilize net operating loss carry forwards and tax planning opportunities available 
to us in the various jurisdictions in which we operate. The estimated annual 
effective income tax rate also includes our best estimate of the ultimate outcome 
of income tax audits. 
 
We use the asset and liability method of accounting for recognition of deferred 
income taxes. Under the asset and liability method, we recognize deferred tax 
assets and liabilities in connection with the tax effects of temporary differences 
between our financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities 
and their respective tax bases and operating loss carrybacks and carryforwards. 
We measure deferred tax assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates expected to 
apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are 
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expected to be recovered or settled. We recognize the effect of a change in tax 
rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities as tax expense (benefit) in the period 
that includes the enactment date. We establish a deferred tax asset valuation 
allowance if we consider it more likely than not that all or a portion of the 
deferred tax assets will not be realized. 
 
44. On November 3, 2011, the Company issued a press release reporting results from 

the quarter and full year ended June 30, 2011. The Company reported a net loss of $88 million, 

or $0.87 per share. 

45. On November 8, 2011, First Marblehead filed its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 

with the SEC for the quarter ended September 30, 2011. The Company's Form 10-Q was signed 

by Defendants Meyers and Klipper, and reaffirmed the Company's previously announced 

financial results. The Company's Form 10-Q included the Sarbanes-Oxley Certifications, signed 

by Defendants Meyers and Klipper, substantially similar to the certifications described in ¶24, 

supra. Regarding IRS audit, the Company stated in relevant part: 

As a result of the sale of the Trust Certificate, effective March 31, 2009, as well 
as our operating losses incurred in fiscal 2009, we recorded an income tax 
receivable for federal income tax paid on taxable income in prior taxable years. In 
fiscal 2010, we received a total of $189.3 million in federal and state income tax 
refunds related to our income tax receivables. In April 2010, the Internal Revenue 
Service (IRS) commenced an audit of our tax returns for taxable years 2007, 2008 
and 2009. Such audits are consistent with the practice of the Joint Committee of 
Taxation, which requires the IRS to audit a taxpayer who receives a tax refund in 
excess of $2.0 million. In connection with this audit, the IRS is reviewing, among 
other things, the tax treatment of the sale of the Trust Certificate, including the 
related income tax refund previously received by us. The IRS has also expanded 
its audit to include our fiscal 2010 tax return in light of the $45.1 million tax 
refund that we received in October 2010. We cannot predict the timing or 
outcome of the IRS audit. As of September 30, 2011, the IRS had not proposed 
any adjustments in connection with its audit. 
 
46. On January 31, 2012, the Company issued a press release reporting results from 

the period ended December 31, 2012. The Company reported net income of $1.19 billion or 

$10.82 per share, the increase in net income was driven by the sale of the Company's variable 
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interests in the NCSLT Trusts. As a result of the sale, the Company reported deconsolidated 

assets totaling $6.6 billion and liabilities totaling $7.8 billion, resulting in a non-cash gain of 

$1.24 billion. 

47. On February 9, 2012, First Marblehead filed its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 

with the SEC for the period ended December 31, 2012. The Company's Form 10-Q was signed 

by Defendants Meyers and Klipper, and reaffirmed the Company's previously announced 

financial results. The Company's Form 10-Q included the Sarbanes-Oxley Certifications, signed 

by Defendants Meyers and Klipper, substantially similar to the certifications described in ¶24, 

supra. In commenting on its potential income tax liabilities the Company stated in relevant part: 

We are subject to federal income tax, as well as income tax in multiple U.S. state 
and local jurisdictions. Our effective income tax rate is calculated on a 
consolidated basis. The securitization trusts are considered pass-through entities 
for income tax purposes and, accordingly, the net income or loss of the trusts is 
included in the tax returns of the trust owners rather than the trust entities 
themselves. As such, we record all income tax benefit or expense in our 
Education Financing segment. 
 
The IRS has begun an audit of our tax returns for fiscal 2007, fiscal 2008, fiscal 
2009 and fiscal 2010. In addition, we are involved in several matters before the 
ATB relating to the Massachusetts tax treatment of GATE, a former subsidiary of 
FMD. See Note 10, “Commitments and Contingencies—Income Tax Matters,” in 
the notes to our unaudited consolidated financial statements included in Part I of 
this quarterly report for additional information regarding these matters. Our state 
income tax returns in jurisdictions other than Massachusetts remain subject to 
examination for various fiscal years ended between June 30, 2007 and June 30, 
2010. 
 
Income tax benefit for the three and six months ended December 31, 2011 was 
$12.2 million and $11.4 million, respectively. The benefit of $12.2 million 
recorded in the three months ended December 31, 2011 related to the order issued 
by the ATB on November 9, 2011 related to the Massachusetts tax treatment of 
GATE. Beginning in fiscal 2011, we no longer had any remaining taxes paid 
within available net operating loss carryback periods to offset our losses. As a 
result, we recorded a deferred tax asset for net operating loss carry forwards as of 
December 31, 2011. It is more likely than not that our deferred tax assets will not 
be fully realized through future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences 
or available tax planning strategies. Accordingly, we have determined that a 
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valuation allowance is necessary for all of our deferred tax assets not scheduled to 
reverse against existing deferred tax liabilities as of December 31, 2011. In 
addition, we recorded accrued interest related to unrecognized tax benefits for the 
second quarter of fiscal 2012. We will continue to review the realizability of 
deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis. 
 
48. On May 2, 2012, the Company issued a press release reporting results from the 

period ended March 31, 2012. The Company reported net income of $9.9 million or $0.09 per 

diluted, and income taxes payable of $23.7 million. The Company stated, “[t]he improvement in 

earnings of $49.2 million was largely driven by a $26.4 million decrease in the loss from 

operations combined with an increase of $23.4 million in other income.” 

49. On May 10, 2012, First Marblehead filed its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q with 

the SEC for the period ended March 31, 2012. The Company's Form 10-Q was signed by 

Defendants Meyers and Klipper, and reaffirmed the Company's previously announced financial 

results. The Company's Form 10-Q included the Sarbanes-Oxley Certifications, signed by 

Defendants Meyers and Klipper, substantially similar to the certifications described in ¶24, 

supra. Regarding IRS audit, the Company stated in relevant part: 

As a result of the sale of the trust certificate of NC Residuals Owners Trust (the 
Trust Certificate), effective March 31, 2009, as well as our operating losses 
incurred in fiscal 2009, we recorded an income tax receivable for federal income 
taxes paid on taxable income in prior taxable years. In fiscal 2010, we received a 
total of $189.3 million in federal and state income tax refunds related to our 
income tax receivables. In April 2010, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) 
commenced an audit of our tax returns for fiscal 2007, fiscal 2008 and fiscal 
2009. Such audits are consistent with the practice of the Joint Committee of 
Taxation, which requires the IRS to audit a taxpayer who receives a tax refund in 
excess of $2.0 million. In connection with this audit, the IRS is reviewing, among 
other things, the tax treatment of the sale of the Trust Certificate, including the 
related income tax refund previously received by us. The IRS has also expanded 
its audit to include our tax return for fiscal 2010 in light of the $45.1 million tax 
refund that we received in October 2010. We cannot predict the timing or 
outcome of the IRS audit. As of March 31, 2012, the IRS had not issued any 
notice of proposed adjustment in connection with its audit. 
 
50. On August 14, 2012, the Company issued a press release reporting results from 
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the quarter and full year ended June 30, 2012. The Company reported a net loss of $14 million, 

or $0.14 per share, for the fourth quarter, and a net loss of $38.9 million or $0.35 per share for 

the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. The Company also reported income taxes payable of $23.4 

million. 

51. On September 12, 2012, First Marblehead filed its Annual Report on Form 10-K 

with the SEC for the quarter ended June 30, 2012. The Company's Form 10-K was signed by 

Defendants Meyers and Klipper, and reaffirmed the Company's previously announced financial 

results. The Company's Form 10-K included the Sarbanes-Oxley Certifications, signed by 

Defendants Meyers and Klipper, substantially similar to the certifications described in ¶24, 

supra. 

52. On November 1, 2012, the Company issued a press release reporting results from 

the period ended September 30, 2012. The Company reported a net loss of $13.9 million, or 

$0.14 per share, and income taxes payable $24 million. 

53. On November 8, 2013, First Marblehead filed its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 

with the SEC for the quarter ended September 30, 2012. The Company's Form 10-Q was signed 

by Defendants Meyers and Klipper, and reaffirmed the Company's previously announced 

financial results. The Company's Form 10-Q included the Sarbanes-Oxley Certifications, signed 

by Defendants Meyers and Klipper, substantially similar to the certifications described in ¶24, 

supra. 

54. On February 7, 2013, the Company issued a press release reporting results from 

the period ended December 31, 2012. The Company reported a net loss of $12.3 million, or 

$0.12 per share, and income taxes payable of $24.3 million. 
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55. On February 8, 2013, First Marblehead filed its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 

with the SEC for the period ended December 31, 2012. The Company's Form 10-Q was signed 

by Defendants Meyers and Klipper, and reaffirmed the Company's previously announced 

financial results. The Company's Form 10-Q included the Sarbanes-Oxley Certifications, signed 

by Defendants Meyers and Klipper, substantially similar to the certifications described in ¶24, 

supra. 

56. On April 29, 2013, the Company issued a press release reporting results from the 

period ended March 31, 2012. The Company reported a net loss of $8.8 million, or $0.08 per 

share, and income taxes payable of $24.6 million. 

57. On May 10, 2013, First Marblehead filed its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q with 

the SEC for the period ended March 31, 2012. The Company's Form 10-Q was signed by 

Defendants Meyers and Klipper, and reaffirmed the Company's previously announced financial 

results. The Company's Form 10-Q included the Sarbanes-Oxley Certifications, signed by 

Defendants Meyers and Klipper, substantially similar to the certifications described in ¶21, 

supra. 

58. Defendants' statements described in ¶¶ 22-57 were materially false and/or 

misleading when made because defendants misrepresented or failed to disclose the following:  

(1) the Company’s tax treatment for its sale of the Trust Certificate and similarly situated 

securities was inappropriate; 2) such treatment exposed the Company to significant liability, 

threatening the future viability of the Company; 3) the Company lacked adequate internal 

controls over financial reporting; and 4) as a result of the foregoing, the Company’s financial 
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statements were materially false and misleading at all relevant times.   

 

THE TRUTH FINALLY EMERGES  

59. On August 15, 2013, in its press release announcing quarterly results for the fiscal 

year ended June 30, 2013, the Company disclosed that the proposed tax liability related to its IRS 

audit would amount to $300 million, plus interest. The Company stated: 

As previously disclosed, our federal income tax returns have been under audit by 
the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") in connection with the sale of the trust 
certificate of the NC Residual Owners Trust ("Trust Residuals"). As part of that 
audit process, the Company expects to receive a Notice of Proposed Adjustment 
("NOPA"). The NOPA, when issued, is an initial IRS position and not a final 
determination, and as a result, does not require any tax payment at this time.  
 
The Company expects that the NOPA would seek to disallow the loss that 
generated the tax refunds previously received by the Company as well as require 
the Company to include in its tax returns any taxable income of the Trust 
Residuals from the March 31, 2009 sale date through June 30, 2011. The 
disallowance of the loss, coupled with the additional taxable income after the sale 
date, creates a proposed adjustment which we estimate to be approximately $300 
million plus interest. 
 
60. On this news, the Company's shares declined $0.57 per share, or over 36%, to 

close on August 16, 2013, at $1.00 per share, on unusually heavy trading volume.  

PLAINTIFF’S CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

61. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure21(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of a Class, consisting of all those who purchased or 

otherwise acquired First Marblehead securities during the Class Period (the “Class”),  and were 

damaged by the alleged corrective disclosures.  Excluded from the Class are defendants herein, 

the officers and directors of the Company, at all relevant times, members of their immediate 

families and their legal representatives, heirs, successors or assigns and any entity in which 

defendants have or had a controlling interest. 
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62. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable.  Throughout the Class Period, First Marblehead securities were actively traded on 

the NYSE.  While the exact number of Class members is unknown to Plaintiff at this time and 

can be ascertained only through appropriate discovery, Plaintiff believes that there are hundreds 

or thousands of members in the proposed Class.  Record owners and other members of the Class 

may be identified from records maintained by First Marblehead or its transfer agent and may be 

notified of the pendency of this action by mail, using the form of notice similar to that custom-

arily used in securities class actions. 

63. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class as all 

members of the Class are similarly affected by defendants’ wrongful conduct in violation of 

federal law that is complained of herein. 

64. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the 

Class and has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation.  

Plaintiff has no interests antagonistic to or in conflict with those of the Class. 

65. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and 

predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class.  Among the 

questions of law and fact common to the Class are: 

• whether the federal securities laws were violated by defendants’ acts as 
alleged herein; 

• whether statements made by defendants to the investing public during the 
Class Period misrepresented material facts about the business, operations and 
management of First Marblehead; 

• whether the Individual Defendants caused First Marblehead to issue false and 
misleading financial statements during the Class Period; 

• whether defendants acted knowingly or recklessly in issuing false and 
misleading financial statements; 
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• whether the prices of First Marblehead securities during the Class Period were 
artificially inflated because of the defendants’ conduct complained of herein; 
and 

• whether the members of the Class have sustained damages and, if so, what is 
the proper measure of damages. 

66. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable.  Furthermore, as 

the damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense and 

burden of individual litigation make it impossible for members of the Class to individually 

redress the wrongs done to them.  There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as 

a class action. 

67. Plaintiff will rely, in part, upon the presumption of reliance established by the 

fraud-on-the-market doctrine in that: 

• defendants made public misrepresentations or failed to disclose material facts 
during the Class Period; 

• the omissions and misrepresentations were material; 

• First Marblehead securities are traded in efficient markets; 

• the Company’s shares were liquid and traded with moderate to heavy volume 
during the Class Period; 

• the Company traded on the NYSE, and was covered by multiple analysts; 

• the misrepresentations and omissions alleged would tend to induce a 
reasonable investor to misjudge the value of the Company’s securities; and 

• Plaintiff and members of the Class purchased and/or sold First Marblehead 
securities between the time the defendants failed to disclose or misrepresented 
material facts and the time the true facts were disclosed, without knowledge of 
the omitted or misrepresented facts. 

68. Based upon the foregoing, Plaintiff and the members of the Class are entitled to a 

presumption of reliance upon the integrity of the market.  
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COUNT I 
 

(Against All Defendants For Violations of  
Section 10(b) And Rule 10b-5 Promulgated Thereunder) 

 

69. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above as if 

fully set forth herein. 

70. This Count is asserted against defendants and is based upon Section 10(b) of the 

Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by the SEC. 

71. During the Class Period, defendants engaged in a plan, scheme, conspiracy and 

course of conduct, pursuant to which they knowingly or recklessly engaged in acts, transactions, 

practices and courses of business which operated as a fraud and deceit upon Plaintiff and the 

other members of the Class; made various untrue statements of material facts and omitted to state 

material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances 

under which they were made, not misleading; and employed devices, schemes and artifices to 

defraud in connection with the purchase and sale of securities.  Such scheme was intended to, 

and, throughout the Class Period, did:  (i) deceive the investing public, including Plaintiff and 

other Class members, as alleged herein; (ii) artificially inflate and maintain the market price of 

First Marblehead securities; and (iii) cause Plaintiff and other members of the Class to purchase 

First Marblehead securities and options at artificially inflated prices.  In furtherance of this 

unlawful scheme, plan and course of conduct, defendants, and each of them, took the actions set 

forth herein. 

72. Pursuant to the above plan, scheme, conspiracy and course of conduct, each of the 

defendants participated directly or indirectly in the preparation and/or issuance of the quarterly 

and annual reports, SEC filings, press releases and other statements and documents described 
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above, including statements made to securities analysts and the media that were designed to 

influence the market for First Marblehead securities.  Such reports, filings, releases and 

statements were materially false and misleading in that they failed to disclose material adverse 

information and misrepresented the truth about First Marblehead’s finances and business 

prospects. 

73. By virtue of their positions at First Marblehead, defendants had actual knowledge 

of the materially false and misleading statements and material omissions alleged herein and 

intended thereby to deceive Plaintiff and the other members of the Class, or, in the alternative, 

defendants acted with reckless disregard for the truth in that they failed or refused to ascertain 

and disclose such facts as would reveal the materially false and misleading nature of the 

statements made, although such facts were readily available to defendants.  Said acts and 

omissions of defendants were committed willfully or with reckless disregard for the truth.  In 

addition, each defendant knew or recklessly disregarded that material facts were being 

misrepresented or omitted as described above. 

74. Information showing that defendants acted knowingly or with reckless disregard 

for the truth is peculiarly within defendants’ knowledge and control.  As the senior managers 

and/or directors of First Marblehead, the Individual Defendants had knowledge of the details of 

First Marblehead internal affairs. 

75. The Individual Defendants are liable both directly and indirectly for the wrongs 

complained of herein.  Because of their positions of control and authority, the Individual 

Defendants were able to and did, directly or indirectly, control the content of the statements of 

First Marblehead.  As officers and/or directors of a publicly-held company, the Individual 

Defendants had a duty to disseminate timely, accurate, and truthful information with respect to 
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First Marblehead’s businesses, operations, future financial condition and future prospects.  As a 

result of the dissemination of the aforementioned false and misleading reports, releases and 

public statements, the market price of First Marblehead securities was artificially inflated 

throughout the Class Period.  In ignorance of the adverse facts concerning First Marblehead’s 

business and financial condition which were concealed by defendants, Plaintiff and the other 

members of the Class purchased First Marblehead securities at artificially inflated prices and 

relied upon the price of the securities, the integrity of the market for the securities and/or upon 

statements disseminated by defendants, and were damaged thereby. 

76. During the Class Period, First Marblehead securities were traded on an active and 

efficient market.  Plaintiff and the other members of the Class, relying on the materially false and 

misleading statements described herein, which the defendants made, issued or caused to be 

disseminated, or relying upon the integrity of the market, purchased shares of First Marblehead 

securities at prices artificially inflated by defendants’ wrongful conduct.  Had Plaintiff and the 

other members of the Class known the truth, they would not have purchased said securities, or 

would not have purchased them at the inflated prices that were paid.  At the time of the 

purchases by Plaintiff and the Class, the true value of First Marblehead securities was 

substantially lower than the prices paid by Plaintiff and the other members of the Class.  The 

market price of First Marblehead securities declined sharply upon public disclosure of the facts 

alleged herein to the injury of Plaintiff and Class members. 

77. By reason of the conduct alleged herein, defendants knowingly or recklessly, 

directly or indirectly, have violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 

promulgated thereunder. 

78. As a direct and proximate result of defendants’ wrongful conduct, Plaintiff and 
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the other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their respective purchases 

and sales of the Company’s securities during the Class Period, upon the disclosure that the 

Company had been disseminating misrepresented financial statements to the investing public. 

COUNT II 
(Violations of Section 20(a) of the 

Exchange Act Against The Individual Defendants) 
 

79. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained in the 

foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

80. During the Class Period, the Individual Defendants participated in the operation 

and management of First Marblehead, and conducted and participated, directly and indirectly, in 

the conduct of First Marblehead’s business affairs.  Because of their senior positions, they knew 

the adverse non-public information about First Marblehead’s misstatement of income and 

expenses and false financial statements. 

81. As officers and/or directors of a publicly owned company, the Individual 

Defendants had a duty to disseminate accurate and truthful information with respect to First 

Marblehead’s financial condition and results of operations, and to correct promptly any public 

statements issued by First Marblehead which had become materially false or misleading. 

82. Because of their positions of control and authority as senior officers, the 

Individual Defendants were able to, and did, control the contents of the various reports, press 

releases and public filings which First Marblehead disseminated in the marketplace during the 

Class Period concerning First Marblehead’s results of operations.  Throughout the Class Period, 

the Individual Defendants exercised their power and authority to cause First Marblehead to 

engage in the wrongful acts complained of herein. The Individual Defendants therefore, were 

“controlling persons” of First Marblehead within the meaning of Section 20(a) of the Exchange 
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Act.  In this capacity, they participated in the unlawful conduct alleged which artificially inflated 

the market price of First Marblehead securities. 

83. Each of the Individual Defendants, therefore, acted as a controlling person of First 

Marblehead.  By reason of their senior management positions and/or being directors of First 

Marblehead, each of the Individual Defendants had the power to direct the actions of, and 

exercised the same to cause, First Marblehead to engage in the unlawful acts and conduct 

complained of herein.  Each of the Individual Defendants exercised control over the general 

operations of First Marblehead and possessed the power to control the specific activities which 

comprise the primary violations about which Plaintiff and the other members of the Class 

complain. 

84. By reason of the above conduct, the Individual Defendants are liable pursuant to 

Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act for the violations committed by First Marblehead. 

 
PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against defendants as follows: 
 

A. Determining that the instant action may be maintained as a class action under 

Rule21 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and certifying Plaintiff as the Class 

representative;  

B. Requiring defendants to pay damages sustained by Plaintiff and the Class by 

reason of the acts and transactions alleged herein; 

C. Awarding Plaintiff and the other members of the Class prejudgment and post-

judgment interest, as well as their reasonable attorneys’ fees, expert fees and other costs; and 

D. Awarding such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper. 
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DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY 
 

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury. 
 
Dated:   August  28, 2013 By his attorneys, 

 
/s/ Adam M. Stewart____________ 
Edward F. Haber (BBO# 215620) 
Adam M. Stewart (BBO# 661090) 
SHAPIRO HABER & URMY LLP 
53 State Street 
Boston, MA  02109 
(617) 439-3939 – Telephone 
(617) 439-0134 – Facsimile 
ehaber@shulaw.com 
astewart@shulaw.com 
 

 

POMERANTZ GROSSMAN HUFFORD 
DAHLSTROM & GROSS LLP 
Jeremy A. Lieberman 
Lesley F. Portnoy 
600 Third Avenue, 20th Floor 
New York, New York 10016 
Telephone:  (212) 661-1100 
Facsimile:  (212) 661-8665 
jalieberman@pomlaw.com 
lfportnoy@pomlaw.com 
 
POMERANTZ GROSSMAN HUFFORD 
DAHLSTROM & GROSS LLP 
Patrick V. Dahlstrom 
10 South La Salle Street, Suite 3505 
Chicago, Illinois 60603 
Telephone:  (312) 377-1181 
Facsimile:  (312) 377-1184 
pdahlstrom@pomlaw.com 
 
WOHL & FRUCHTER LLP 
J. Elazar Fruchter  
570 Lexington Avenue, 16th Floor 
New York, New York 10022 
Telephone: (212) 758-4000 
Fax: (212) 758-4004 
jfruchter@wohlfruchter.com 
 

 Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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CERTIFICATION OF RYAN M. SMITH PURSUANT TO
THE PRIVATE SECURITIES LmGATION REFORM ACT

I, Ryan M. Smith, hereby declare as follows:

1. I have reviewed the facts and allegations in a complaint against The First Marblehead
Corporation ("FMD") and related parties, and authorize its filing.

2. I did not purchase FMD securities at the direction of plaintiffs' counselor in order to
participate in any private action under the federal securities laws.

3. I am willing to serve as a representative party on behalf of a class, including providing
testimony at deposition and trial, if necessary.

4. The attached Schedule A lists all of my purchases and sales in FMD securities during the
class period set forth in the complaint.

5. During the three year period preceding the date hereof, I have not sought to serve as a
representative party on behalf of a class under the federal securities laws.

6. I will not accept any payment for serving as a representative party on behalf of a class
beyond my pro rata share of any recovery, except for reasonable costs and expenses
(including lost wages) directly relating to the representation of the class, as ordered or
approved by the Court.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on this 26th day of August 2013.

Case 1:13-cv-12121-PBS   Document 1   Filed 08/28/13   Page 33 of 34



SCHEDULE A 

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS 

Purchases 

Date Acquired Amount of Securities Price 

7/17/13 940 $1.5798 

7/26/13 1864 $1.8494 

 

Sales 

No sales 
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